Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 8/31/2021 by Florentino Jimenez, Deputy Clerk

S270326

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FAMILY HEALTH CENTERS OF SAN DIEGO, *Plaintiff and Appellant,*

v.

STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES, *Defendant and Respondent.*

Court of Appeal of California Third District No. C089555

Superior Court of California Sacramento County No. 34201880002953 Hon. Steven Gevercer

PETITION FOR REVIEW

George E. Murphy (SBN 91806) Murphy, Campbell, Alliston & Quinn 8801 Folsom Blvd, Suite 230 Sacramento, CA 95826

ISSUE PRESENTED

When a Federally Qualified Health Center¹ incurs costs to have an employee talk with medically at-risk individuals about how she/he/they may obtain health services, make appointments with a provider, or enroll in Medi-Cal where appropriate, do such person-to-person encounters constitute "advertising to the general public" under pertinent federal guidelines, to make the costs of those activities² not allowable for reimbursement under federal and state law?

IMMEDIATE REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO PROTECT THE HEALTH AND WELL-BEING OF THOUSANDS OF CALIFORNIANS

The published³ decision of the appellate court⁴ establishes a new, albeit erroneous, interpretation of federal law that will adversely affect critical health services for thousands of indigent Californians and review is therefore necessary under rule 8.500 (b)(1) of the California Rules of Court to settle an important question of law.

¹ Hereinafter, "FQHC" or "health center."

These activities are known as "outreach" in the context of this case.

³ The appellate court's order certifying the decision for publication is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

⁴ The appellate court's slip opinion is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

INTRODUCTION

The published decision in this case will drastically impair the ability of FQHCs⁵ throughout California to fulfill their mandate of informing the neediest members of society about important healthcare services available to them at community clinics set up for their benefit. Family Health Centers of San Diego ("Family Health"), like approximately 2000 other FQHCs in California, provides health services under section 330 of the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.) which include (1) services designed to assist patients in establishing eligibility for and gaining access to federal and state assistance programs (such as Medi-Cal), (2) services that enable individuals to use the health center's services (including outreach, transportation, and interpreter services), and (3) education regarding the availability and proper use of health services. (42 U.S.C. §§ 254b(b)(1)(A)(iii)-(v).) These health centers depend upon federal and state funding to provide for indigent, homeless and underserved individuals on the economic fringes of society. Pursuant to Medicare principles of cost reimbursement made applicable to FQHC reimbursement determinations by state law, various costs they incur are classified as allowable for inclusion

[&]quot;The purpose of FQHCs is to serve communities that may have financial disadvantages, language barriers, geographic barriers, or other specific needs. They serve high-need areas determined by the federal government that might be facing high levels of poverty, negative health outcomes, and limited access to health care services. FQHCs are usually located in rural areas or economically disadvantaged city areas, and provide services to all community members regardless of insurance status or ability to pay.... [¶] FQHCs and other safety net clinics play an important role in delivering health care services to those insured by MediCal." (Warrick, Anna,The Role of Federally Qualified Health Centers in Serving the MediCal Population (Spring 2017) Occidental College Urban and Environmental Policy Student Scholarship.https://scholar.oxy.edu/uep_student/9. Footnotes omitted.)

in the rate setting cost reports they file with the Medicaid program. With oversight from the federal government, states reimburse health care providers for providing healthcare to low-income individuals who meet the criteria to be enrolled in the program.

The State Department of Health Care Services ("DHCS"), which oversees such programs in California, determined that costs associated with having clinic workers go into the community to inform such underserved individuals about medical services available to them and help them obtain healthcare are not allowable for inclusion in their rate setting Medi-Cal cost reports, relying primarily on a misreading of federal guidelines contained in the Provider Reimbursement Manual, 6 that make "advertising to the general public" not an allowable cost, with some exceptions. According to DHCS, and now the published decision in this case, talking to one or a few individuals in a homeless camp or other such setting about medical services is "akin to" disallowed "advertising to the general public."

Specifically, DHCS and the Court of Appeal, rely on section 2136.2 of the PRM, which provides, in pertinent part:

"Costs of *advertising to the general public* which seek to increase patient utilization of the provider's facilities are not allowable." (AA 1405; emphasis added.)

When a health center's outreach worker talks with a person in a homeless shelter or encampment, on the street, in alleys, rescue missions, at a school,

Catholic Health Initiatives v. Sebelius (D.C. Cir. 2010) 617 F.3d 490, 491.) When used herein, "AA" refers to the Appellant's Appendix.

The Provider Reimbursement Manual ("PRM," AA 1416-1418) consists of non-binding guidelines and interpretative rules promulgated by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services to assist providers and intermediaries in the implementation of the Medicare regulations. (See, *Battle Creek Health Sys. v. Leavitt* (6th Cir. 2007) 498 F.3d 401, 404;

bar, bathhouse or park about accessing the health center's facilities,⁷ those outreach efforts logically should increase "patient utilization" of the facility, and so DHCS argued, and the appellate court agreed, those individual interactions were "akin to" advertising to the general public for purposes of PRM 2136.2, rendering the cost for such activities unallowable. The Slip Opinion as originally filed, stated at page 14:

"The regulations exclude costs that the program defines as not allowable, and the PRM makes clear that advertising costs "seek[ing] to increase patient utilization of the provider's facilities are not allowable." (PRM § 2136.2 (rev. 267, 09–82); 42 C.F.R.

§ 413.9(c)(3) (2021).) The evidence showed that plaintiff performed its outreach activities to "get the word out" about its various services and "develop[] awareness of each clinic's presence, resources, cultural competence, and desire to serve among members of [plaintiff's] target populations." It was not an abuse of discretion to find that *such activities had the purpose and effect of bringing in new patients and increasing utilization of plaintiff's facilities, making them akin to advertising*." (Exhibit A, hereto; italics added.)

Thus, the appellate court's analysis focused on the fact that outreach would bring new patients to the clinic (i.e., "increasing utilization") while ignoring the fact that for outreach costs to be disallowed such increase in patient utilization must be accomplished through "advertising to the general public" under the specific language of PRM 2136.2. It is clear from the undisputed evidence that Family Health's outreach activities did not involve advertising to the general public. To the contrary, outreach involved

⁷ AA 47:4-7, 48:7-9, 322:17-25.

interpersonal interactions, one or a few at a time, within a very small and unique segment of society---not in any way comparable to "advertising to the general public."

Family Health filed a Petition for Rehearing, bringing these factual and legal errors to the appellate court's attention. In response, the court of appeal slightly modified its decision in the context of denying rehearing⁸ to add the words "to its audiences within the general public" after the words "various services," in the above quote from the decision. The added language compounded the court's erroneous analysis. Outreach workers do not have "audiences;" they have "individual interactions." (AA 269:16–17.) Often they go to locations frequented by homeless folks and other at-risk individuals, where public nurses will not even go. (AA 288:1–11.) Outreach is also conducted in culturally diverse areas, where different languages are spoken, exercising culturally sensitive communication skills. (AA 287:19–23.)

Suggesting that outreach workers address crowds of people is factually incorrect and contrary to the record. Further, inserting the words "general public" in the modified opinion does not cure the error. A conversation with one or two people is not transformed into an "advertisement to the general public" simply because that private conversation occurs in a place open to the public, such as a park or beach. The modification completely misses the point.

If the published appellate decision making the cost of outreach unallowable is not vacated, a vast number of indigent people in need of health care will go without it, because the decision's inevitable effect will be to decrease the flow of vital information reaching the homeless and other similarly situated people about how and where to receive health care. The

⁸ Attached hereto as Exhibit B is the Order Modifying Opinion and Denying Rehearing.

decision exacerbates a state-wide health crisis, potentially affecting hundreds of thousands of California residents, because FQHCs treat millions of California residents every year. "In 2019, California FQHCs served 5.6 million patients and generated 26.4 million patient visits, equating to increases of 40% in patients and 66% in visits over the seven-year review period. At the national level, FQHCs reported a 37% growth in patients and 43% rise in visits over the same timeframe, highlighting California FQHCs' relatively strong growth, particularly in visits."

The unintended, harmful consequences of this erroneous appellate decision are vast. It has an immediate negative impact on the nearly 2,000 health centers in California trying to care for the needy (see fn. 9), but it has a more pernicious effect on the likely hundreds of thousands of would-be patients who will not learn of the health care they could be receiving. It is not an exaggeration to say that granting review to vacate this erroneous decision will save lives in California and significantly help countless sick and potentially infectious people throughout the state obtain needed medical services designed for them, including vaccinations¹⁰ which help reduce the spread of disease throughout the general population.

_

⁹ California Federally Qualified Health Centers Financial & Operational Performance Analysis, 2016-2019, (2020) Capital Link and California Health Care Foundation, p. 2. https://www.caplink.org/images/California Financial and Operational Trends Report.pdf

Family Health worked with San Diego County to provide thousands of vaccines to homeless. (AA 288:2-4.)

BACKGROUND

A. Pertinent Law Regarding Federally Qualified Health Centers.

The federal government provides financial assistance to states to provide medical care to low-income individuals through the Medicaid program. (42 U.S.C.§ 1396 et seq.) California has implemented the program through Medi-Cal. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 14000 et seq.; Robert F. Kennedy Medical Center v. Belshé (1996) 13 Cal.4th 748, 751 (Kennedy).) The DHCS is the state agency designated to administer the Medi-Cal program. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 14203.) "Pursuant to Medi-Cal, participating health care providers, such as hospitals, receive reimbursement directly from the [DHCS] for providing medical care to Medi-Cal beneficiaries." (Simi Valley Adventist Hospital v. Bontá (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 346, 348.) Providers are reimbursed for their allowable costs, as determined under Medicare/Medicaid standards and principles of reimbursement set forth in the Code of Federal Regulations and the PRM. (Oroville Hospital v. Department of Health Services (2006) 146 Cal. App. 4th 468, 472; see also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 22, § 51536, subds. (a)(2) & (b)(4); Community Care Foundation v. Thompson (2006) 412 F.Supp.2d 18, 22–23 [PRM provisions are interpretations of the Medicare regulations].) In general, to be reimbursable, claimed costs "must be based on the reasonable cost of [covered] services" and "related to the care of beneficiaries." (42 C.F.R. § 413.9(a) (2021); see also PRM § 2100 (rev. 454, 09–12) ["All payments to providers of services must be based on the reasonable cost of services covered under title XVIII of the Act and related to the care of beneficiaries"].) These federal regulations are incorporated into state law and apply to Medi-Cal providers such as Family Health. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 14132.100, subds. (e)(1) & (i)(2)(B)(ii).)

Under the federal regulations, a "[r]easonable cost includes all necessary and proper expenses incurred in furnishing services, such as administrative costs, maintenance costs, and premium payments for employee health and pension plans. It includes both direct and indirect costs and normal standby costs." (42 C.F.R. § 413.9 (c)(3).) "Necessary and proper costs are costs that are appropriate and helpful in developing and maintaining the operation of patient care facilities and activities. They are usually costs that are common and accepted occurrences in the field of the provider's activity." (42 C.F.R. § 413.9 (b)(2).

Advertising costs are allowable if they are "incurred in connection with the provider's public relations activities [and are] primarily concerned with the presentation of a good public image and directly or indirectly related to patient care. Examples are visiting hours information, conduct of management-employee relations, etc." (PRM § 2136.1 (rev. 267, 09–82).) However, "[c]osts of *advertising to the general public* which seeks to increase patient utilization of the provider's facilities are not allowable. . .. While it is the policy of the [relevant federal agencies] to promote the growth and expansion of needed provider facilities, general advertising to promote an increase in the patient utilization of services is not properly related to the care of patients." (PRM § 2136.2 (rev. 267, 09–82); emphasis added.)

"Consistent with [the] statutory authority [set forth in Welfare and Institutions Code section 14171], the regulations establish detailed appeal procedures applicable to the audit process, including an appeal from a final audit report. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 22, § 51016 et seq.)" (*Kennedy, supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 758.) A Medi-Cal provider may request a hearing regarding disputed audit findings by submitting a statement of disputed issues to the DHCS. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 22, § 51017.)

B. The Audit.

The dispute at issue started with a cost report audit performed by DHCS for fiscal year 2013, to set future-per visit rates for one of Family Health's clinic sites. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 14132.100, subd. (i)(3)(c); AA 444 - 453.) The DHCS auditor reclassified \$75,032 of salary and benefit expenses for community outreach services to a non-reimbursable cost center. (AA 470 - 478.) Family Health exercised all of its administrative appeal rights, leading to an evidentiary hearing in 2017, which included live testimony of several witnesses and various exhibits. None of the evidence about how Family Health conducted outreach was contravened by DHCS.

C. Evidence Regarding Family Health's Outreach Activities.

Family's Health's chief executive officer, Fran Butler-Cohen, testified about the nature of outreach activities and the fact that outreach is mandated by both federal and state regulations. For example, in reference to a training manual used by Family Health for its outreach workers, 11 she explained:

"So these outreach workers go out; they find the people; they identify them; they give them education; they give them the enrollment; they make the appointments; they find out the other areas that they need addressing in their lives; then they make connections and referrals so that, that can get taken care of as well." (AA 321:2–8.)

The training manual for outreach workers identifies five steps to an "outreach encounter" with each individual, as follows:

¹¹ Family Health's exhibit Z. (AA 319:19-322:14, and 1150 et. seq.)

- "1. Observe: watch what is happening in the environment BEFORE you approach.
- 2. Approach: make conversation openers, attempt to get client's attention.
- 3. Engage and Identify Needs: move the conversation into client's needs;
- 4. Conduct: further explore behaviors related to the first and second needs.
- 5. Conclude and Follow-up: provide referrals, wrap up, revisit concerns later." (AA 1153.)

As this indicates, Family Health's outreach involves the outreach worker having a conversation with a potential patient, determining his or her needs and providing possible referrals. As such, outreach obviously is a highly individualized encounter. It does not involve an outreach worker addressing an "audience" of assembled listeners. It is not any form of mass communication to the general public.

Ms. Butler-Cohen explained that the outreach workers provide information to homeless individuals, for example, regarding his or her eligibility for benefits and the required documentation for the Department of Health Care Services. An outreach worked confronts various situations unique to each person eligible for, but not yet enrolled, in the Medi-Cal program, such as someone lacking a required divorce decree or citizenship or other eligibility issues. (AA 323:1–11.) Each outreach encounter is personal and unique. DHCS wants FQHCs to have "boots on the ground" for these outreach efforts because traditional methods of mass communication (like advertising to the general public) are not effective for this unique segment of society. (AA 323:22–23.)

She also explained that outreach is mandated by federal law. For example, provisions in the Code of Federal Regulations regulating FQHCs delineate services of outreach workers as a supplemental health service which, as she testified, "promote and facilitate optimal use of primary health services…" (AA283: 21–23) and quoting the regulation she stated:

"[a] substantial number of individuals in the population served by the center are of limited English-speaking ability. The services of outreach workers and [other] personnel fluent in the language or languages spoken by such individuals [are required]." (AA 283:24–284:7.)

In that context she testified that the subject Family Health clinic is located in one of the most diverse areas of the country, which includes Sudanese, Somali, Latino and Ethiopian, and "the list goes on" from there. (AA 284:8–11.) Students at the middle school across the street from the clinic speak 57 different languages. (AA 284:11–13.) So, again, outreach cannot be conducted in the form of advertising to the general public. (AA 283–284.) Advertising to the general public about available healthcare through Medi-Cal programs would neither reach the needy people in this segment of society nor be effective. Reaching such medically underserved individuals requires the "boots on the ground" approach that is outreach. (AA 323:21–23.)

The testimony of Family Health's CEO referenced a letter¹² from Sally Richardson, who at the time the letter was written in 1994 was the Director of the Medicaid Bureau of the Federal Department of Health and Human Services. (AA 284:19–285:3.) The letter identified Medicaid *outreach as an administrative cost necessary for the proper and efficient administration of the state plan.* (AA 284:24–285:3.) The CEO also discussed a document

Hearing exhibit J. (AA 789-797.)

from Title 42, of the Public Health and Welfare statute in reference to the federal mandate for outreach. (AA 285:9–286:7.) Ms. Butler-Cohen elaborated that the federal government requires outreach and that Director Richardson indicated that state Medicaid directors will consider outreach an allowable service. (AA 286:1–7.) She also observed that the California Department of Health Care Services identified the homeless as being a particularly vulnerable population "that they wanted Community Based Organizations... and FQHCs to target and reach [them] to move them into the Medi-Cal program. Homeless are generally, as a population, very difficult to reach." (AA 287:8–14.)

Family Health's CEO testified that "this year [Family Health provided] healthcare to 35,000 unique homeless persons, and we have started shelters and we have mobile units." (AA 287:15–23.) She explained that she is very familiar with what it takes to reach homeless people and "you don't just build a building and tell them to come. You clearly must have culturally sensitive outreach to bring them into health care." (AA 287:20–23.)

Each Family Health outreach worker uses an activity \log^{14} listing location, hours and contacts conducted. (AA 633.) This form includes the name of the outreach worker, how many hours that person worked, the total number of *individual interactions* and the total number of materials distributed, as well as how many contacts were made for each particular area of service. (AA 269:10–20.) Again, the undisputed and overwhelming evidence is that outreach is a highly individualized activity involving unique individual interactions, within a narrow segment of society. It is not remotely akin to advertising to the general public.

¹³ Hearing exhibit K. (AA 798-804.)

Hearing exhibit A. (AA 633-643.)

Ms. Butler-Cohen observed there is a significant level of accountability for each outreach worker. (AA 270:7–20.) It is not uncommon for potential patients of Family Health, including low-income people with limited English proficiency, teens, disabled, seniors and others in need, to be unaware that affordable healthcare or free healthcare services exist for them. (*Ibid.*) Consequently, Family Health's outreach workers go into the community, make these contacts, and set up appointments. Those appointments are notated to indicate whether the patients completed or missed the appointments. (*Ibid.*)

D. Decisions at the Administrative and Superior Court Levels.

The ALJ issued a proposed decision in favor of DHCS concluding, in pertinent part, that under the PRM guidelines regarding advertising, Family Health's outreach activities were non-reimbursable "patient recruitment." (AA 130.) The proposed decision was then adopted by the Chief ALJ. (AA 119.) A subsequent motion for reconsideration was denied on essentially the same basis. (AA 77–91.)

Family Health then filed a petition for writ of mandate in the Sacramento County Superior Court. (AA 3 – 8.) In denying mandate and rendering judgment in favor of DHCS, the trial court concluded that outreach costs are not allowable based on PRM §§ 2136.1 and 2136.2. Although some forms of advertising are considered "Allowable Advertising Costs" under 2136.1, others are deemed "Unallowable Advertising Costs" under 2136.2. The trial court seized upon the following language contained in 2136.2:

"Costs of *advertising to the general public* which seeks to increase patient utilization of the provider's facilities are not

allowable. Situations may occur where advertising which appears to be in the nature of the provider's public relations activity is, in fact, an effort to attract more patients. An analysis by the intermediary of the advertising copy and its distribution may then be necessary to determine the specific objective. While it is the policy of the Health Care Financing Administration and other Federal agencies to promote the growth and expansion of needed provider facilities, general advertising to promote an increase in the patient utilization of services is not properly related to the care of patients." (AA 1405; italics added.)

Family Health appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal, who initially issued an unpublished decision, concluding, in pertinent part:

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