No. S270326

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

FAMILY HEALTH CENTERS OF SAN DIEGO,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES, Defendant and Respondent.

Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 34-2018-80002953 The Honorable Steven M. Gevercer, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND AMICUS CURIAE LETTERS IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

ROB BONTA (SBN 202668)
Attorney General of California
JONATHAN L. WOLFF (SBN 193479)
Chief Assistant Attorney General
CHERYL L. FEINER (SBN 170774)
Senior Assistant Attorney General

GREGORY D. BROWN (SBN 219209)

Supervising Deputy Attorney General

*KEVIN L. QUADE (SBN 285197)

Deputy Attorney General

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

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

I. THE OPINION WILL NOT CURTAIL COMMUNITY OUTREACH BY FQHCS, WHICH IS REQUIRED BY AND PAID FOR THROUGH FEDERAL GRANTS AND HAS NEVER BEEN A BASIS FOR MEDICAID REIMBURSEMENT

Family Health asks this Court to grant review based on its assertion that the Court of Appeal's decision—holding that Family Health's community outreach services are not reimbursable under Medi-Cal—will curtail community outreach by FQHCs to the detriment of California's vulnerable population. (PR 7, 11-12; see also California Primary Care Association (CPCA) Amicus Ltr. (CPCA Ltr.) 5; Avenal Community Health Center, et al. (Amici Health Centers) Amicus Ltr. (AHC Ltr.) 2, 4.) That assertion is demonstrably incorrect. As the Court of Appeal noted (Opn. 1-2), these FQHC community outreach services are already funded through a separate federal grant program, which requires FQHCs to provide such services as a condition of their grant funding.³ What Family Health seeks

³ Though not relevant to the underlying appeal, which relates to Medi-Cal reimbursement to FQHCs through PPS rates, the Department notes that there are separate Medi-Cal programs and legislative appropriations that provide funding towards outreach and enrollment efforts of counties and community-based organizations. (See, e.g., Welf. & Inst. Code, § 14132.47; Assembly Bill No. 82 (2013-2014 Reg. Sess.) §§ 70-71; Senate Bill No. 18 (2013-2014 Reg. Sess.) § 1.)

here is an *additional* recovery for outreach services that is quite appropriately prohibited under the applicable federal Medicaid regulations because such services do not relate to patient care.

Providers like Family Health are designated as FQHCs precisely because they receive direct grants from the United States to provide primary health care and other related services to underserved communities in accordance with the Public Health Services Act. (42 U.S.C. §§ 254b(a)(1), 1395x(aa)(4); Community Health Care Assn. of New York v. Shah (2d Cir. 2014) 770 F.3d 129, 136.) FQHCs must be located in medically underserved areas or provide care to medically underserved populations, including migratory or seasonal agriculture workers, the homeless, or residents of public housing. (Three Lower Counties, supra, 498 F.3d at p. 297; see 42 U.S.C. § 254b(a)(1), (k)(3).) Though FQHCs often serve Medicaid beneficiaries, and are reimbursed through Medicaid for 100 percent of the costs of caring for these patients (Three Lower Counties, at pp. 298-299, citing 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(bb)(2); see Welf. & Inst. Code, § 14132.100, subd. (i)(1)(C)), the FQHC grant structure is independent from the Medicaid program.

As a condition of federal grant money under the Public Health Services Act, FQHCs are required to provide various health services, including family and internal medicine; pediatrics; obstetrics and gynecology; and well-child services. (42 U.S.C. § 254b(b)(1)(A)(i).) In addition to substantive health care services, FQHCs must also provide a variety of services aimed at increasing awareness of and utilization of the health center's

resources. This mandated "outreach" includes: patient case management services designed to assist in establishing a prospective patient's eligibility for and access to federal and state assistance programs; services that enable individuals to use a health center's resources (including outreach, transportation, and interpreter services); and education of patients and the general population of the availability and proper use of health services. (42 U.S.C. § 254b(b)(1)(A)(iii)-(v).)⁴

Family Health, CPCA, and the Amici Health Centers acknowledge that acceptance of FQHC grant money obligates a provider to engage in the type of outreach at issue here. (See PR 8; CPCA Ltr. 2, 3, 5; AHC Ltr. 4, fn. 8.) Federal grant money received by an FQHC is allocated to facilitate, among other things, the grantee's compliance with its obligation to provide "required primary health services," which include community outreach. (See 42 U.S.C. § 254b(b)(1)(A), (e)(2), (k)(2), (3).) The Court of Appeal's opinion in this case thus will have no appreciable effect on the ability of FQHCs like Family Health to

⁴ Family Health and CPCA imply that the Department is hostile to community outreach in California's medically underserved communities. (See PR 9-10; CPCA Ltr. 4.) This is not the case. It is undoubtedly beneficial when more Californians, especially those most vulnerable and in need of assistance, utilize available health care resources as demonstrated by the programs California has instituted to aid in this effort. (See *ante*, fn. 3.) But this cases concerns a far more narrow (and uncontroversial) question, whether the community outreach required of FQHCs and paid for through separate grant funding, warrants duplicative funding via Medi-Cal reimbursement under the applicable federal regulations.

inform and engage with vulnerable Californians in medically underserved communities.

The opinion does not change longstanding practices. Indeed, the status quo is and always has been that community outreach costs of the type at issue in this appeal are not reimbursable under Medi-Cal. The Department has long viewed the applicable federal regulations, which prohibit reimbursement for costs not sufficiently related to patient care (42 C.F.R. § 413.9 (2021)), to bar consideration of activities like community outreach when calculating a provider's PPS rate. The Court of Appeal's opinion merely affirms this well-established application of federal regulations. Contrary to Family Health and amici's arguments, the decision will not decrease Medi-Cal reimbursement or require that outreach to vulnerable communities be diminished or discontinued because the cost of these activities has never factored into the PPS rate. The effect of the Court of Appeal's decision is simply to deny FQHCs additional payment, via Medi-Cal reimbursement, for these outreach costs that are already funded through a separate federal grant.⁵

⁵ CPCA's letter distinguishes FQHCs from what it calls "look-alike[] Community Health Centers." (CPCA Ltr. 1, internal quotation marks and parenthesis omitted.) Apart from the difference in name, however, CPCA identifies no relevant legal distinction between the two types of health care provider. According to CPCA, Community Health Centers, like FQHCs, are legally obligated to provide various services, including outreach, to medically underserved populations under the Public Health Services Act grant program. (See CPCA Ltr. 5, citing 42 U.S.C. § 254b(a)(1), (b)(1)(A)(iv), (v).)

Accordingly, Family Health and the amici's warnings that review is necessary to prevent wide-sweeping devastation to the health of California's medically underserved communities ring hollow.

II. THE OPINION CREATES NO CONFLICT IN CASE LAW, AND THERE IS NO LEGAL ISSUE OF STATEWIDE IMPORTANCE WARRANTING THIS COURT'S FURTHER REVIEW

As to the legal issue at the heart of this case, Family Health and CPCA argue that review is necessary because the Court of Appeal erred when applying the federal Medicaid reimbursement regulations to claims for community outreach expenses. (PR 21-26; CPCA Ltr. 4.) But mere error correction of the sort suggested (and there is no error here) is not a ground for review. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

Family Health can establish no other basis for review.

There is no conflict among any authorities on this issue. Neither Family Health nor CPCA identify, and the Department is not aware of, any court in any jurisdiction that has found these types of outreach service costs to be reimbursable under the Medicaid reimbursement regulations.

The Amici Health Centers submit that the Court of Appeal's denial of Medicaid reimbursement for outreach costs is "at odds" with *Tulare Pediatric Health Care Center v. State Dept. of Health Care Services* (2019) 41 Cal.App.5th 163, 174 (*Tulare Pediatric*), which described part 413's standards for reimbursement as "broad and inclusive." (AHC Ltr. 6.) That characterization, however, occurred in an entirely different context, the court's consideration of how much reimbursement is required, not what

type of costs are reimbursable. (See *Tulare Pediatric*, at p. 171.) In fact, the *Tulare Pediatric* court, in holding that the State was required to fully reimburse an FQHC for its reported costs, repeatedly noted that the applicable statutes and regulations contemplated reimbursement for actual treatment of Medicaid beneficiaries. (*Id.* at pp. 171, 174.) There is no conflict here, with *Tulare Pediatric* or any other case.⁶

Moreover, this case does not present any important unanswered questions of law that would warrant this Court's intervention. Indeed, the law governing reimbursement here is simple, straightforward, and settled, and was correctly applied by the ALJ, Chief ALJ, trial court, and a unanimous panel of the Court of Appeal. Under governing federal regulations, a provider's costs cannot be factored into the Medicaid reimbursement rate unless they are "related to the care of beneficiaries." (42 C.F.R. § 413.9(a) (2021).) Federal agency guidance from the PRM illustrates how this principles is applied, highlighting advertising to the general public, which seeks to

⁶ The Amici Health Centers also cite *Tulare Pediatric* for the proposition that the Court of Appeal did not consider whether the exclusion of outreach costs is consistent with the federal requirement that FQHCs be reimbursed for 100 percent of the cost of services provided. (AHC Ltr. 6-7, citing *Tulare Pediatric*, *supra*, 41 Cal.App.5th at p. 166; see also 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(bb)(4).) But under part 413, and consistent with *Tulare Pediatric*, the Court of Appeal's conclusion that Family Health's outreach costs did not relate to patient care and, thus, were non-reimbursable, necessarily does not violate the requirement of full repayment for *reimbursable* services.

increase utilization of a provider's services, as non-reimbursable because it does not relate to patient care. (PRM § 2136.2 (rev. 267, 09-82).)

The Amici Health Centers argue that review is warranted because the Court of Appeal did not consider other federal regulatory guidance, a 2001 question-and-answer document from CMS's predecessor agency concerning changes in the scope of FQHC services. (AHC Ltr. 4-5.) That guidance explains that a change in scope occurs when a center adds or drops a service that meets both the definition of an FQHC service under section 1905(a)(2)(B) and (C) of the Social Security Act, and qualifies as a covered service under the a state's Medicaid plan. (AHC Ltr. 5.)⁷ As allegedly relevant here, "outreach" is listed as a service potentially subject to reimbursement after a change in scope. (See AHC Ltr. 5.)

But this guidance has no application here. Initially, as noted, this question-and-answer addresses changes in scope of services, whereas Family Health's challenge to the Department's reclassification concerns an initial rate-setting audit. More importantly, although the agency guidance appears to contemplate that states *may elect* to include services like outreach in their federally-approved plan, California has not done so. (See Respondent's Motion for Judicial Notice (RMJN) 12-13 [California's plan limiting reimbursable services to those

⁷ Section 1905 of the Social Security Act is codified at 42 U.S.C. section 1396d.

described in section 1905(a)(2)(C) of the Social Security Act]; see also 42 U.S.C. § 1395x(aa)(1) [describing services provided by physicians and other health professionals].) In fact, the state plan's language on changes in scope of services largely tracks the question-and-answer guidance, while notably omitting any reference to "outreach" in the examples of covered services. (See RMJN 24-25.) This federal guidance thus has no bearing on and does not undermine the Court of Appeal's determination that outreach is not reimbursable under California's implementation of Medicaid.

As the ALJ, Chief ALJ, trial court, and Court of Appeal all determined, the outreach services in question are not related to Medi-Cal patient care and are instead analytically akin to general public advertising because they aim to increase awareness and utilization of health center services. (See AA 100-117, 143-154, 1434-1440; Opn. 13-14.) Family Health, CPCA, and the Amici Health Centers fail to show any error in these determinations, let alone that this case raises any unsettled issues of statewide importance, particularly given that these outreach services are already funded by separate FQHC grant money.⁸ The issue here is not whether health care outreach

⁸ In repeatedly focusing on the "general public" component of the PRM's exclusion of advertising from Medicaid reimbursement, Family Health and CPCA provide a distorted framing of the legal issue. As explained, advertising to the general public is not excluded under part 413.9 because it concerns a large-scale broadcast to "crowds of people" (PR 11), but rather, because it aims to increase utilization of health (continued...)

services to California's vulnerable communities will be provided and funded, but whether FQHCs will be paid for them not only through federal grant funding, but also through Medicaid reimbursement. Further review of that question is unwarranted.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the petition for review should be denied.